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HISTORY OF COOPERATIVE EXTENSION
WORK IN MICHIGAN—1914-1939

INTRODUCTION

Pioneering, even today.

[n a quarter-century of IExtension Service in agriculture and home
economics administered through Michigan State College, there still is
need to hark back to the year 1849, for the founding of a Michigan
society and subsequently America’s first agricultural college had pur-
poses akin to purposes today.

State senators and state representatives in that year organized the
Michigan Agricultural Society “to promote the improvement of agri-
culture and its kindred arts throughout the State of Michigan.” This
society sponsored formation of the State College for instruction in
agriculture.

Thus the College, chartered in 1855, came into being through a legis-
lature made up largely of farmers. It was their desire to aid Michigan
agriculture and individual farmers in their struggle to overcome the
handicaps and hardships of pioneer conditions.

Conditions have changed. Livestock has been improved: adapted
varieties of grains and forage crops have been widely disseminated;
methods of disease and insect control have been perfected; great ad-
vancements have been made in farm buildings and machinery; farm
management has become an established science.

But new problems arise. Those which confront the farmer of today
are no less trying than those faced by the hardy pioneer. Erosion
control, marketing, credit, production adjustment and tenantry are
reminders that there is still much work to be done. Results in the past
quarter-century, marked by the beginning officially of the Extension
Service in 1914 in Michigan and other states through Federal-State
cooperation, reveal the how and why of today's agricultural industry.
They give some insight also of the goal to which farming in this state
is headed.

6,758,500 BULLETINS DISTRIBUTED

Since early in 1916 when the first extension and 4-H club bulletins
were prepared, printed and distributed, there has been a total of 6,758,-
500 copies of these extension and 4-H club bulletins. Except for those
of the latest editions still being distributed, the inference is that the
average Michigan farm family has had 33 bulletins from the extension
service,

There’s the development of the Robust bean. What has that to do
with Michigan agriculture and Michigan extension work in agriculture
and home economics?

In every county in which bean production is important this one
development at Michigan State College is a drama, a pockethook fat-
tener, a stronghold in keeping this state the most important of all
navy or white pea bean producers in the nation. The Extension Servite
took the development of the new bean more than 10 vears ago and
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told the advantages throughout the state. Better production by Robust
has meant in a decade an extra return to farmers of $38,000,000, or an
average of $3800,000 a year. That's progress. Farmers welcome the
extra cash and their families enjoy better living. Even today Robust
i5s being succeeded rapidly by Michelite, more superior variety bred
and tested and finally released by the College in 1937,

Another phase has been the state's potato production—in 1939 a
15-million dollar industry. The Extension Service has played a part in
broadeasting knowledge of the best varieties, the best cultural practices
and improved marketing procedure.

N a7 e

Old College Hall was the first building in the world to be erected for the
leac hing of scientific agriculture. Its site on the Michigan State College campus
ts marked by Beawmont Tower.

In 4-H c¢lub work and in home economics extension work there
have been other proofs of how the state's agriculture is advancing.
Michigan has young men and women interested in agrlu!lllu(‘ to such
an extent that this state is among the leaders each year in the number
who start projects and complete them. In 1938 total enrollment showed
23,841 boys’ projects and 27,993 girls’ projects, an actual total of about
45,000 boys and girls in 51,834 projects. There was an increase in 1939
to 51,315 boys and girls enrolled, and in 1940 there were several thou-
sand more in a total of 69826 pl'ojects.

With those highlights indicating practical application of extension
work today, let's reserve the details of the individual project reports
and scan some more of the early agricultural and the pioneering ex-
tension service history.

The Honorable H. I, Lothrop addressed the state agricultural so-
ciety with a plea in 1849 that attention be paid to “sons” in the state.
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He estimated that four-fifths of the children of the state intended and
probably would pursue agriculture as a profession. The society's efforts
brought results in the 1850 constitution which made preliminary pro-
vision for some type of agricultural college in Michigan.

Actual founding of Michigan Agricultural College was in 1855, and
first instruction was in 1857.

Farmers themselves took much of the initiative in getting this new
type of school started, although authors of historical material, such as
Dr. W. J. Beal of the early college staff, agree that the first few decades
were a severe test. At times the college was unpopular even among
some of the farmers it was trying to serve.

FARMERS' INSTITUTES FOUNDED

That may not have been entirely unfortunate. In 1876 something
new was tried on authority of the State Board of Agriculture, govern-
ing body of the college. Winter farmers' institutes were conducted at
Allegan and Armada. As far back in time as they now are, those meet-
ings in effect constitute the beginnings of today's system of extension
work in agriculture and home economics.

In subsequent winters there were six such institutes each year,
designed to serve centrally for various sections in the state.

Then in 1891 the winter's program was expanded to 16 institutes.
Formal recognition that this type of work was worthwhile came in
action of the state legislature in 1895, establishing an official system
for farmers’ institutes. Under the State Board of Agriculture and with
Kenyon L. Butterfield as superintendent, the institutes of the revised
system numbered 70 in as many counties, followed by a four-day state-
wide roundup meeting. That roundup is what has become the modern
Michigan State College Farmers® Week, attended by more thousands
of farmers each year than can be claimed by any other farm and home
agricultural college program in the United States.

In the third year of this more comprehensive system of institutes,
special sections for women were scheduled under supervision of Mrs.
Mary A. Mayo. These succeeded, too, and are considered the fore-
runner of today's home economics extension service in Michigan.

Other states lay claims to earlier events similar to these, but writers
of Michigan historical material say that this state was the first to pass
an enabling law in 1861 providing for lectures to those not students
at the college, first apparently to make state appropriations for the
institutes, first to establish these institutes as a permanent and reg-
ular phase of work for the college staff members.

The first person expressly employed by the college for this growing
type of extension service was W. F. Raven, named in 1907 as livestock
field agent. One of his first projects was the organization of purebred
sire associations. This livestock improvement work was given promi-
nence by R. S. Shaw, then dean of agriculture and later president of
Michigan State College. By 1909 Raven's work was becoming so suc-
cessful he was made a full-time employee in extension work.

Then in 1909, still before federal-state extension work was organ-
ized formally, the college employed field agents in the departments of
horticulture and farm crops. In the latter department, more definite
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structure was given this work in the formation in January 1911, of the
Michigan Experiment Association, forerunner of the present-day Mich-
igan Crop Improvement Association.

BEGINNINGS OF 4-H CLUB WORK

Muskegon and Mason counties share in another phase of this his-
torical progress. In 1908 there were boys' corn growing associations
in those two counties. Prof. J. A. Jeffery reported on these and in
1909 found they had grown to an enrollment of 350 boys. By 1912
there was a Junior Agricultural Association under the leadership of
Professor Walter French of the department of agricultural education.
Those steps constitute the real beginning of Boys™ and Girls' 4-H Club
work as Michigan knows it today.

Agricultural Hall houses administrative offices of the Agricultural Division, including
those of the Extension Division.

Establishment of agricultural courses in the high schools gave great
stimulus to extension activities in the regions of these schools. The
teachers proved natural local leaders in requesting speakers and ar-
ranging details of meetings. Prof. Walter H. French initiated the
idea of extending these meetings to four or five days and gave them
the name of extension schools.

The year 1912 marked the beginning of direct cooperation between
the Federal Department of Agriculture and the College in extension
work. Congress made certain appropriations for “Farm Management,
IField Studies and Demonstrations,” to be conducted in cooperation
with the various states, The plan proposed by the federal department
for carrying on this work was one of direct cooperation between the
counties of the state, the College and federal bureau in the employment
of a man to be located permanently in a county and to be known as
a county-agriculturist and later called county agricultural agent.
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The first of this new type of extension worker was H. G. Smith,
employed in Alpena county July 1, 1912, Within one year 12 agricul-
tural agents had been employed and Dr. Eben Mumford was appointed
their leader.

The extension enterprises became more and more numerous and
centered in the office of the dean of agriculture. As early as 1911 Dean
Shaw made mention of the fact in his annual report that nearly all of
the departments of the agricultural division had assumed the triple
functions of teaching, research and extension. In 1913 these activities
were grouped together for administrative purposes in the Department
of College Extension.

R. J. Baldwin, who had been administrative assistant to the dean
of agriculture, was appointed superintendent of agricultural extension.
The function of the new department was in admimstration, a sort of
clearing house for the entire extension movement. The extension repre-
sentatives were controlled, in administration and in subject matter
presented, by the college instructional department to which each be-
longed. All matters not directly connected with the individual depart-
ment or where several departments were involved were administered
by the newly created extension department.

PASSAGE OF SMITH-LEVER ACT

The development and success of the “Farm Management, Field
Studies and Demonstrations,” later known as “Farmers Cooperative
Demonstration Work,” together with the large number of extension
enterprises carried on by all of the states individually led to develop-
ment of a comprehensive plan. There was a need to bring all the
forces engaged in this educational work into a cooperative relation-
ship. Funds were needed for the gradual building of a staff of trained
workers reaching into all of the counties of all of the states. This plan
was initiated and proposed by the land grant colleges and the federal
department of agriculture and other sponsors and was provided for
by an Act of Congress known as the Smith-Lever Act of May 8, 1914,
This act was assented to by the Michigan legislature in 1915,

While the bill was pending, Congressman Lever explained the pur-
pose of the legislation. He pointed out the essential information that
was being gathered by agricultural colleges and stressed the need for
putting this information in the hands of farmers. He described the
potential extension service as an agency that had been sought for half
a century. He complimented the cooperation given by the press, the
use of farmers’ bulletins and lecture and institute work but he asserted
in sponsoring the bill that farm families needed even more direct con-
tact with state agricultural colleges.

Vigorous support by the Michigan State Grange has highlighted
the history and is evident today in the progress of the Extension Serv-
ice of Michigan State College.

In legislative halls and otherwise, the Grange has approved carry-
ing information to rural families. From the report of the Master of the
State Grange in 1896 one may read, “The State Board of Agriculture,
from earnest desires and long experiences, are striving to make this
institution meet the true wants of the farmers of the State, in supply-
ing their sons and daughters with practical and helpful education.
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“As we look back over the history of the Grange in Michigan and
recall the stand it has taken for many worthy objects, there is no part
of that record which adds more honor than its continual support of
the Agricultural College. With this the College has been benefited
also, for it was the Grange that first gave public announcement to
most of the changes and innovations which have kept the College well
to the front among others of its kind in the United States.”

Another organization has participated in college extension history
and today remains a staunch support. This is the Michigan State Farm
Bureau.

There was need in the early days of local organizations within the
counties to assist in financing the county agricultural agents and to
help in planning and carrying out the work of this new educational
movement. Almost uniformly these county organizations operated early
in extension history as county farm bureaus.

In its beginning the Farm Bureau was a federation of local organ-
izations such as farmers' clubs, granges, crops and livestock associa-
tions, county bankers’ associations and the Chamber of Commerce
groups.

To finance work, a small membership fee ranging from 50 cents to
a dollar a year was charged by the Farm Bureau to help pay the salary
of the county extension agent, pay for the services of a stenographer,
and furnish the necessary office supplies and travel.

In most counties the office was in the courthouse, so that there
was no expense for rent, heat or light.

These initial local developments were recognized and accepted as
satisfactory by the Federal Extension office. After the World War
armistice of 1918, the Farm Bureau became more aggressive during
the agricultural depression that developed. Local county Farm Bureaus
were federated into State Farm Bureaus and from them was formed
the American Farm Bureau Federation. Within a short time the orig-
inal goal of education was expanded to include political influence and
commercial enterprises.

Membership fees were increased to $10 a year and an intensive
drive in 1920 put 80,000 names on the membership rolls in Michigan.
Increased revenues provided more money for hiring county agricul-
tural agents.

It soon became evident, however, that the programs of the Farm
Bureau and of the Federal and State Extension Service were such that
extension work could not continue to receive financial support from
the Farm Bureau. By mutual agreement, the Farm Bureau financial
assistance for extension work in Michigan ultimately was withdrawn.
The situation within the state worked out better than in some other
states because the secretary-manager of the State Farm Bureau, C. L.
Brody, appointed in February 1921, had been a county agricultural
agent in St, Clair county since April 1, 1915. Mr. Brody recognized
the limitations imposed by the Smith-Lever law and this made it pos-
sible to continue friendly relationships and for the two services to
continue cooperative financing of county agricultural agents until in
the late twenties.

There was other pioneering work in Michigan. When the first
official boys' and girls” club work was conducted in 1914-15, the junior
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extension projects were carried into six counties by E. C. Lindemann,
first State Club Leader. His work and that which followed indicated
need for paid leaders wherever such a worker can be supported
financially.

Another first was the appointment of Miss Pauline Raven in charge
of Home Economics Extension in 1914. Canning demonstrations in
summer and extension schools in winter comprised the work. First
special county worker was Miss Ilene M. Baily, employed as home
demonstration agent in St. Joseph county in 1915,

AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS

Although marketing of farm products may rightfully be considered
the keystone of agricultural prosperity it has only been in the past
half-century that Michigan farmers have made an organized effort to
influence conditions of the sale of their produce.

Farmers woke up during the depression of the nineties to find that
the lag of farm prices had placed produce rates below the wholesale
prices of all commodities. That realization started movements to have
farmers hold produce for more satisfactory prices but the results
achieved were generally unsatisfactory, and the attendant abuses of
marketing processes created an active interest in the formation of co-
operative associations.

ORGANIZATION OF COOPERATIVES

In 1890 one cooperative marketing association existed m the state.
Aroused farmer interest in the following 30 years increased that num-
ber by 1915 to 90, Such mganuatlom consisted of associations for
cooperative marketing of grain and beans, livestock, dairy products,
fruit and potatoes, But admirable as were the early individual efforts
the need for a point of centralization was felt and an increasingly
large number of Michigan agriculturists turned to Michigan State
College and its lixtension Service for aid.

Such agitation culminatéd in the passage of Act 91 by the 1915
legislature providing: “That the State Board of Agriculture (govern-
ing body of Michigan State College) is hereby authorized to under-
take the investigation and improvement of market conditions for
Michigan products and appoint such competent and experienced per-
sons as may be necessary to carry out the intent of this act.”

Entire control of the purposes of the act was placed in the hands
of the hoard with a resultant appointment, Nov. 1, 1915, of a director
of markets and the beginning of organized extension work in eco-
nomics and marketing on the part of the college.

During the formative period of Michigan cooperatives, intensified
efforts on the part of the Michigan Grange, Gleaners and, later, the
State Farm Bureau were coupled to the help offered by the College
Iixtension Service in the organization of active farmers’ cooperative
marketing associations. Main problems facing these carly organiza-
tions were the excessive marketing costs reflected in the disparity
between farmer and consumer prices and inability of farmers as in-
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dividuals to influence marketing conditions and correct selling abuses.
Entrance of the United States into the World War and the creation
of the food administration added impetus to the co-op movement
through dissatisfaction with policies promulgated by that agency which
affected the marketing of farm products.

Woeflully short-handed in personnel, the college markets depart-
ment found it impossible to cover thoroughly the field during those
early years of co-op building. But plans for organizing such associa-
tions were formulated and presented at innumerable meetings and
conferences and advisory service rendered groups of farmers desiring
Lo mg.nn/v 3y 1920 the number of organizations had increased from
90 in 1915 to 418. Many mistakes are admitted but much was accom-
plished in assisting farmers to realize their objectives.

FARMERS AIDED BY COOPERATIVES

Such associations as the Michigan Milk Producers, Michigan Potato
Growers and the Michigan Livestock Exchange, formed during these
early years of the state’s co-op history, proved by records their aid to
Michigan farmers. Increased earnings of $400 annually for every man
producing 250 pounds of milk daily stands as the war record of the
Milk Producers Association while reduction of handling costs between
potato growers and dealers from 49 cents in 1918 to 27 cents a year
later is the boast of the Potato Growers Association.

Although cooperative marketing had become an important phase
of the state’s agricultural industry, the price-drop occasioned by the
post-war depression of 1920-21 showed up mistakes made during the
period of intensive organization of cooperatives while the experiences
of the cooperative themselves demonstrated the need for better busi-
ness practices. Investigation proved that in the haste to derive co-
operative benefits, cooperatives designed for handling grain, beans,
farm supplies and other commodities requiring considerable invest-
ment in physical facilities and working capital had been organized on
plans recommended for livestock and potato shipping associations re-
quiring little investment.

Exposure of such errors, plus the desirability of extending a wider
economic service to the state’s farmers, led to the merging of the office
of market director with the College Economics Department in 1920.

Following the merger and general reorganization, numerous changes
were made in cooperative organizations then in existence and new
groups were formed. In 1924, 486 cooperative organizations were in
operation in Michigan. Effort was directed towards correct organiza-
tion of new associations while old ones, in danger of internal decay
from poor management or lack of adequate information, were rejuve-
nated through reincorporation and mergers and by liquidation of those
having no chance to exist.

Along with the teaching and application of better principles of
cooperative organization every effort possible, with the still limited
personnel available, was made to encourage the management of co-
operatives in better business practices. Development of accounting
systems, information regarding methods of handling farm produce
and the adoption of the fundamentals of merchandising to the sale
of farm products and supplies were the tools of this new education
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in farm marketing. Informative campaigns were, and still are, con-
ducted among association members to encourage better grading, stand-
ardization of products and in some cases establishment of brands.
Proof of the value of such work is attested by the fact that practically
all handlers of farm produce or supplies have largely adopted the prac-
tices of the cooperatives in the past several years.

In answer to a growing demand for special investigation of factors
affecting the marketing of farm products the college economics de-
partment was expanded in 1923 to include a personnel for teaching and
research work in agricultural economics. A beginning was made dur-
ing the latter part of the twenties to make ‘available to the membership
of the cooperatives, economic information concerning operation of their
cooperatives as business institutions and factors affecting prices of
farm products. The program to enlarge work in this field had been
well launched by the close of 1929,

The world's unsettled economic status in the depression years of
the early thirties brought farm cooperative's financial problems into
the limelight more than ever before. The newly organized department
of agricultural economics and the marketing extension service was
faced with a marked decline in the value of farm commodities and the
task of educating cooperative managers to coordinate their services to
nationwide economic change.

Needy associations were directed to the Federal Farm Board and,
later, its successor, the Banks for Cooperatives. Although 44 of Mich-
igan’s Cooperative and Marketing associations had loans outstanding
with these agencies amounting to $1,349,000 on Aug. 31, 1939, it is of
interest to note that though some were reorganized to meet the re-
quirements of the federal agencies only a very few failed during the
period when financial and other business institutions were closing by
the hundreds.

ORGANIZATION OF SUGAR BEET ASSOCIATION

An example of economics extension work carried on during the
early years of the depression may be seen in the Farmers and Manu-
facturers Sugar Beet association, organized in 1930. When beet grow-
ers sounded a call for help in rehabilitating the industry, college agri-
cultural economists surveyed the situation and came to the conclusion
that improvement would only be reached through a sharing of responsi-
bility in production and sales between grower and manufacturer. In
an effort to insure sufficient acreage to make operation profitable for
the manufacturer local cooperative associations were formed around
cach sugar factory.

Officers of these groups were empowered to negotiate contracts
between farmer and manufacturer calling for each party to receive 50
percent of the proceeds from the sale of sugar, pulp and molasses,
Details of the contract have been changed, yet it is still used to the
advantage of both grower and manufacturer and the industry is rated
in the best condition it has enjoyed in the past two decades.

Depression problems again emphasized the need for educational
programs among the members of the cooperatives and accordingly three
specialists were added to the extension staff to begin organized educa-
tional campaigns. Taking the form of meetings with local memberships

R |
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this work has been carried out in connection with the state commodity
exchanges. Subjects discussed range from accounting practices and
merchandising methods to the effects of governmental activities and
general economic conditions on agriculture,

In addition to the extension activities carried on directly relating to
marketing problems the economics staff has, for the past nine years,
published, in bulletin form, The Agricultural Outlook. This gives factors
which are likely to affect agriculture for the following 12 months, and
their results. Fifteen thousand copies of the bulletin were distributed
in 1938 to county agents, crop reporters, Smith-Hughes teachers and
individual farmers. Supplementary material in the form of a quarterly
publication *“Agricultural Economic News for Michigan” is also dis-
tributed in the amount of 7,500 copies per issue.

The economics staff has not been unmindful of the importance of
the preparation and presentation of timely agricultural economic in-
formation. Members also have devoted their efforts for the past 25
years in furthering the long-time program which is to assist Michigan
farmers in building an efficient cooperative sales service for the major
farm commodities produced in the state.

AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERING

In cooperation with the Farm Crops Department, members of the
College Agricultural Engineering staff began extension projects about
1914 when a full-time Agricultural Engineering Extension Specialist
was appointed.

Two and three-day institutes were held in various counties during
the first year of the work and such topics as drainage, septic tanks,
gas engines and home conveniences were discussed.

In the summer of that year the first septic tank demonstrations
were put on in Allegan and St. Joseph counties, Each of these installa-
tions are still in operation. Since that time demonstrations have been
held in all of the state’s 83 counties with portable forms left at each
demonstration site. More than 15,000 tanks have been built, and im-
provement in size and design of commercial tanks has been a direct
result of the initial project.

With the demand for increased crop production that began in the
war years drainage work loomed especially important. Need for knowl-
edge of drainage desigii on the part of farmers, contractors and drain
commissioners resulted in a major share of the agricultural engineer-
ing extension work being confined to demonstration farms, meetings
and conferences with contractors, manufacturers, commissioners and
farmers.

DRAINAGE PROGRAM

At least partially a result from the early drainage work program
of the division is the fact that today Michigan is exceeded by only two
other states in the number of main outlet ditches. About 16,000 miles
of such drainage is now claimed in the state and approximately 9,800,000
acres are affected by drainage structures now installed. Probably the
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first planned and controlled drainage system in the country was in-
stalled on the Looking Glass river in 1936,

In 1921 a second extension worker was added to the project staff
to conduct a land-clearing campaign in the Upper Peninsula with the
object of stimulating clearing undersized farms and to teach safety
and economy in the use of explosives and equipment. Such methods
as demonstration trains, meetings, and truck demonstrations were used
to further the campaign. Cooperation from various civic and com-
mercial sources was utilized. A major activity in this project was the
distribution of 5,766,050 pounds of war salvage explosives in Michigan
at an average saving of 10 cents per pound to the farmer,
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Construction of septic tanks has been promoted by extension specialists in agricultural
engineering. The accompanying sketeh shows a typical tank installotion,

Although the clearing project continued as a minor part of the
program for a good many years, intense interest had shifted by 1924
to marl digging demonstrations which were carried on in cooperation
with the Farm Crops Department. As a result of these first practical
demonstrations in digging marl nearly 250,000 cubic yards now are
being used annually in the state.

A project in farm building work was also started in 1924 which,
then, consisted of a few model displays at county fairs. In 1936 the
first five demonstration poultry houses were built in the Upper Penin-
sula and insulation was introduced for the first time in farm buildings.
From that time on the farm buildings project has been a major one
stressing such things as safety bull pen demonstrations, model dairy
and farm buildings and insulated brooder houses.
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Some of the outstanding results of the project have been the de-
velopment of better plan service, introducing insulation for farm build-
ings, obtaining water-proof insulation material from manufacturers,
developing the Midwest Plan service, introduction of the laminated
rafter type of construction, reduction of costs and an increase of
efficiency.

A complete review of the work done in agricultural engineering
extension since the inception of the service reveals farmer aid along
such lines as home conveniences, machinery repair, pen barn demon-
strations, sewing machine projects, [Future expansion of the service
will rest on increase in demand and amount of time and number of
stafl workers available to earry out the program.

FARM ELECTRIFICATION

Established as a definite phase of the agricultural extension pro-
gram in 1928, the farm electrification project had an earlier beginning
about 1914 when a series of farm-lighting meetings was conducted
under the leadership of the College's Agricultural Engineering Depart-
ment head.

By 1923 approximately 3,000 favorably located Michigan farm homes
were using high line electrical service. Although rate schedules were
complicated and transformer-based service charges were proving un-
satisfactory, little extension work was done to relieve the situation.

However an organized program of electricity for agriculture had
been set up that year under the leadership of the national committee
on the relation of electricity to agriculture. Committees were estab-
lished in 26 states with the object of determining how electric service
could be carried to the farmer, how electricity could be used on the
farm, the economics of electric operation and the sociological effect of
electricity on agriculture.

Inclusion of two Michigan State College staff members on the
Michigan committee marked the first vital entrance of extension work
in the field of farm electrification. Under the sponsorship of this com-
mittee the Mason-Dansville experimental line was built to serve as a
laboratory for studying the application of electricity to actual farming
conditions.

Results of such experimental work were published in experiment
station bulletins. By 1928 a new rate schedule and farm line construc-
tion policy, known as the “Michigan Plan™ was adopted.

Increased demand for information pertaining to farm electrification
service and methods brought about the establishment of farm elec-
trification extension service in 1928, Pioneer work in that field was
done through the use of an electrification demonstration truck equipped
with a farm wiring installation, electric motors and other equipment.

For the five-year period until 1933 the truck was sent about the
state carrying extension service electrification education to Michigan's
rural families. A four-wheel trailer designed and built to carry a model
electric kitchen was added to the entourage about 1930 and a home
economics extension specialist accompanied other extension workers
demonstrating houschold equipment and appliances.
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ELECTRIFICATION SCHOOLS CONDUCTED

Electric schools were also conducted for a three-year period sched-
uling series of meetings at two-week intervals in locations selected by
county agricultural agents. Work was largely of a follow-up nature
and usually offered in communities previously visited by the demon-
stration truck. Further interest was stimulated through 4-H clubs
and, in 1935, formation of the federal Rural Electrification Administra-
tion heightened interest in the already well-developed program,

Since 1936 demonstration meetings have been conducted in the form
of two-~day farm electrification schools set up in various counties and
attended by manufacturers and local dealers as well as interested farm-
ers. Detailed programs concerning the practical, profitable use of elec-
tricity in farm homes are discussed and supplementary material in the
form of slides and motion pictures have often been added.

Michigan has advanced from 20th among the states having the
greatest number of electrified farms in 1927 to third place in 1939,
During this period electrical service has been extended to 115,000 farm
homes and for the past nine years Michigan has led all states in the
number of farm connections established annually.

A too-little praised portion of the service's aid to Michigan agri-
cultural electrification has been standardization in the form of wiring
and use of electrical appliances which has followed much research and
experimental work on the part of specialists and the Michigan State
College.

Other services which have been offered and accepted are the anal-
ysis and interpretation of the many differences existing between the
electrical and agricultural industries and the recommendation of wiring
methods which are now used in a majority of Michigan's rural wired
homes.

Iistablishment of available electric energy for all farm homes in the
state will not end extension service in that field. Michigan farmers are
comparatively new users of electric energy and although the funda-
mental questions of line access and wiring of buildings have been
answered, constant demands for information regarding new, practical
and profitable uses for farm electricity are already piling up.

Future efforts in answering such questions may, eventually, result
in farm electrification becoming a vital method of converting a farm
house into a farm home.

ANIMAL DISEASE WORK

An increasing demand on the part of Michigan dairymen for assist-
ance in fighting the Bang's discase epidemic threatening their herds
resulted in the beginning of extension service in animal disease control.

istimates that Bang's disease was costing dairy farmers $5,000,000
annually and that it had increased 100 percent between 1920 and 1930
culminated in the establishment of the service in March 1930,

A sub-project, horse parasite control, was added to the program in
1933, and two years later, community health as affected by animal
diseases, and better health for farm animals, were included as sub-
ordinate projects,
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By 1936 the list of projects was expanded to include attempted
control of nearly all animal diseases. Various phases of the work have
been conducted through the cooperation of county agricultural agents
with the help of veterinarians, interested local leaders and high school
agricultural teachers.

Early control work among Bang’s disease herds took the form of
establishment of demonstration herds, organization of farmers for
group herd testing and visitations to infected farms for the purpose of
analyzing individual problems.

In 1934 the federal government began a Bang's disease control pro-
gram. [For cooperative reasons much of the extension program had
to be changed. Demonstration herds were no longer necessary, group
testing became largely confined to aceredited herd work and farm visits
have become limited to problem herds and organization work. Most
of the extension service work is now devoted to organizing for area
testing and discussing and explaining various problems.

BETTER HEALTH FOR FARM ANIMALS

Much of the work on the horse parasite control program, which
included demonstrating the effects of parasite infestations and organiz-
ing farmers for group treatment of horses, has been diverted to county
agents, veterinarians, high school instructors and local leaders. More

(Courtesy, Ilinois Agr. Exp. Sta) J!: s

Horse infested with internal parasites and same horse after proper treatment,

The Extension Service has stressed the importance of horse parasite control
as illustrated here.
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time is thus allowed for extension efforts in the controlling of other
diseases. Promotion of better health for farm animals is handled
through demonstrations, lectures and discussions. A minor activity
assuming more importance on the program is the fostering and pro-
moting of veterinary service associations.

Much of the animal disease control extension service is conducted
through direct cooperation with individuals and agencies. Important
cogs in the elimination of Bang’s disease campaign are county agents
and county supervisors. Close cooperation is carried on with the state
department of agriculture and the federal bureau of animal industry,
while help has been extended to and received from farm security ad-
ministration officials, teachers of vocational agriculture and F.F.A.
members.

Animal disease control men have participated with animal hus-
bandry and dairy department members in several projects such as
dairy schools, cow tester training schools and livestock sales. Assist-
ance has been extended to 4-H clubs, veterinary medical associations
have been helped in numerous ways and lectures have been given at
the University of Michigan to classes in public health work as a co-
operative project with the state department of health and hygiene.

Although the entire results in controlling Bang's disease in Mich-
igan are not all traceable to extension activities the initial campaign
which launched this phase of the service has been an important factor.
A 1930 estimate placed at least 15 percent of the state’s 1,000,000 young
and mature dairy animals in the infected class but the number of tests
for Bang's disease did not exceed 40,000,

In 1938 extension men alone tested 73,421 blood samples for the
disease while federal agents tested 251,895, In addition the number of
tests run by practicing veterinarians exceeded 10,000 a month by March
1939, All cattle in 22 northern counties have now been tested under
federal supervision and reactors removed. It is now estimated that
the incidence of infection in the state does not exceed 10 percent. The
first herds accredited as free from Bang's disease were so designated
in 1932. At present there are more than 7,500 accredited herds.

The inerease in animal disease control shown in the Bang's disease
;ampaign has been reflected by all other phases of extension control
work.

Much current interest is being shown in control of mastitis infec-
tion and 7,717 tests of samples have now been made by extension work-
ers in the official laboratory.

Increasing interest in farm animal disease control shown by mem-
bers of 4-H and IF.F.A. clubs indicates the future of this phase of the
extension service program. Present trends call for more work to be
done in the fight against mastitis, equine encephalomyelitis (sleeping
sickness) and animal diseases affecting human health.
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ANIMAL HUSBANDRY

When the Michigan State College Agricultural Experiment Station
published a bulletin entitled “A Plan for the Improvement of Michigan
Cattle” written by Pres. Robert S. Shaw, then acting dean of agricul-
ture, in September of 1906 the nucleus for one of Michigan’s first
extension projects was created.

Incorporated in the bulletin were partial reports of animal breeding
experiments then in progress at the college and a summary of the live-
stock situation in the state, together with plans for improving it. Shortly
after the publication of the bulletin a plan for a cooperative breeders’
association, known as the block system, was developed and in Decem-
ber 1907 had been put into operation.

Still patterning their work after Dean Shaw's plan, members of
the animal husbandry staff in 1908 assisted the Michigan Improved
Livestock Breeders’ and Feeders' association in the preparation of a
directory, containing names of all livestock breeders in the state. This
list was used in promoting livestock improvement. More than 2,000
Iireeders, their postoffice address and their breed of livestock were
listed in the first directory and A. C. Anderson, association secretary,
acted as exchange agent between buyers and sellers, directing most
of his efforts towards placing purebred animals where they were
most needed.

Demonstrations in horsemanship have been a part of the program of extension
specialists in animal husbandry. Here is illustrated a demonstration being given on how
to teach a colt to lead.



HISTORY OF COOPERATIVE EXTENSION WORK 19

With the appointment of a livestock extension specialist April 1,
1909, came an expansion in breeder association promotion. Local live-
stock associations were set up to consist of three units, each one of
which pledged itself to the purchase of a purebred sire and the exchange
of these sires at two-year intervals, thus providing six years of pedi-
greed sire service. By July 1, 1914, more than 100 such associations
had been organized most of which were incorporated under state law.

Owing to the excessive demand for wool during the war years the
Michigan War Board set aside a $10,000 revolving fund for the purpose
of assisting farmers to bring good foundation sheep flocks to the state.
So, in addition to carrying on the projects already started by his prede-
cessor, the specialist was called upon to assist in Michigan's rapidly
expanding sheep industry. He was aided by a sheep purchasing agent
appointed by the board, in establishing a consistent purebred sheep
project.

Prospective purchasers were assisted in locating suitable breeding
stock, sheep men were taught the best methods of feeding and caring
for flocks and special effort was made to focus breeders’ attention on
the fine northern Michigan pasture grasses then going to waste. Dur-
ing individual instruction campaigns, extension specialists spent much
time with farmers and settlers in cut-over regions, pointing out the
value of sheep in clearing land and their adaptability to northern Mich-
igan farming conditions,

PROJECT METHOD USED

Since its inception extension leaders in animal husbandry in Mich-
igan have carried on the major share of their work through the medium
of projects and although some early work was done by the lecture and
demonstration method the failure to develop community interest and
local leaders has long since led to the abandonment of such a program.
At the present time animal husbandry extension work is largely con-
fined to projects with one major project underway for each class of
livestock plus several minor ones.

One of the most successful livestock projects now in operation is
the Michigan Colt Development plan which, in 1937-38, boasted an en-
rollment of 450 farmers from 43 counties. Designed to stimulate inter-
est in the breeding and development of draft horses the plan has gained
added momentum through local meetings conducted for the purpose
of demonstrating methods of hitching and breaking, the use of multiple
hitches, trimming, care of horses’ feet and methods of feeding. County
horse days, breeders’ tours and dynamometer demonstrations at county
and local fairs have also proved successful means of creating interest.

Various beef cattle projects are also proving their worth to Mich-
igan farmers in several counties. Largest of these, the Michigan Beef
Calf Feeding project, drew approximately 100 entries from 28 counties
last year. With the aim of focusing attention of local people on methods
which should be followed in proper raising of beef calves this project
has stimulated interest in beef cattle breeding throughout the state.

Other notably successful cattle work now being directed by the
extension service in animal husbandry includes special sire sales at Glad-
win and Lapeer, cattle feeders’ tours, cost accounting studies carried
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on in cooperation with the farm management department and assistance
rendered 4-H club youngsters and Future Farmers of America chapters,

Sheep breeders, who have benefited from college extension services,
gue primary consideration to the ram truck project and the construc-
tion of community dipping plants operated on a cooperative basis. The
Wolverine Lamb Production project, with more than 200 cooperators,
has also done much to arouse interest in improved breeding methods
and such minor projects as wool improvement meetings, lamb feeders’
and sheep breeders’ tours and sheep shearing and wool grading schools
have their place on the extension program.

Though still in the embryonic stage, project work in swine hus-
bandry is rapidly assuming an important status in the eyes of animal
husbandry staffmen. The Ton Litter project, the Michigan Swine Feed-
ing and Michigan Pig Crop contests are the early steps toward a well-
rounded program for improving Michigan swine herds.

Proof that animal husbandry extension work has been a vital factor
in the improvement of Michigan livestock and an indication that it will
continue in that capacity is shown through the increase in attendance
at staff meetings held in the past decade. In 1930 a total of 481 staff
meetings with an attendance of 25,679 people was reported. By 1938
the number of meetings had increased to 541 with an attendance figure
of 129,990. An appreciable increase both in number of meetings and in
attendance is evident in the past two years.

BOYS’ AND GIRLS’ CLUB WORK

“To make the best better”

That has been the motto and the goal of 4-H club participants
since the work began unofficially in 1899 through Will B. Otwell’s
Corn Club in Macoupin county, Illinois.

Otwell's first agricultural club, like Mr. Finney's turnip, grew and
grew until today 4-H club work has become an important phase in
the work of the United States Department of Agriculture and is car-
ried on in Michigan and other states in cooperation with agricultural
colleges for the benefit of rural boys and girls in an effort to teach
them better home and farm practices as well as broaden their philosophy
of life.

James C. McLaughlin, Muskegon congressman, was instrumental
in fostering Michigan’s first agricultural clubs. Aided by the federal
department of agriculture, Michigan Agricultural College, school com-
missioners and various groups of interested individuals Mel.aughlin,
in 1908, inaugurated, in his district, corn-growing contests in the coun-
ties of Muskegon, Mason, Oceana, Wexford, Newaygo and Manistee.

Later clubs were organized by a Michigan Agricultural College
professor, Walter H. French, and members of his staff under the title
of junior agricultural organizations. These were promoted through
the office of the department of agricultural education at the college.

In 1913 Dr. Eben Mumford was named to the position of state ex-
tension leader for Michigan Agricultural College and the United States
Department of Agriculture. He conducted the first official corn grow-
ing club contests in the state.
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Top club for that year turned out to be the Antrim County Boys'
Corn Club led by \I\lr-n [£. Duckles of Elk Rapids. Organized [.m ‘17.
1913, with an initial me mbership of ten boys the club had, at the year's
end, achieved the best club record in the state and had seen one of its
members, Grant Withers, sent to Washington, D. C. as State Corn
Club champion and the first in Michigan 4-H Club work to receive an
educational trip in recognition of club achievements.

During the same year all state club work was turned over to the
extension division of the college and, after the passage of the Smith-
Lever act in 1914, was placed in charge of a state leader of boys' and
girls’ club work, i

Summer camps, for recreation and instruction, are a part
of the 4-H club work.

Still increasing, club projects added bean and potato growing to
the list in 1914-15 and in 1916 a woman was employed as an Assistant
State Leader to promote homemaking projects for girls.

World War emergency funds and the need for vegetable gardens
kept club work booming from the year 1916, when one man and one
woman comprised the state club stafl with only six county leaders to
handle a total club membership of 5920 to 1918 which included the
employment of 13 people on the state stafl plus 64 part-time county
club leaders and a total club enreollment of 50,000.

Clothing, gardening and canning projects seemed to be the main
stand-bys of 4-H workers during the war years and the major part of
the program was carried out in the cities and villages rather than in
the country. Then came the post-war depression period, a lack of
paid personnel and the necessity for shifting the 4-H program from
urban to rural areas.

Taking advantage of the winter portion of their two-season pro-
gram, state club workers first introduced handicraft projects to the
boys in rural districts in 1918 and at the same time developed a hot
lunch project with the object of providing school children with warm
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dishes at noon to supplement the cold lunches carried from home. Live-
stock projects appeared in the 4-H club program in 1917 with pig clubs
leading the way to be followed shortly by sheep, beei and dairy calf
clubs.

24 PROJECTS OFFERED

Year by yvear Michigan's 4-H club schedule has grown until today
rural and village members can choose from a program of 24 projects
including handicraft, clothing, home management, home furnishing,
hot lunch and deer yard study in winter, and corn, bean, potato and
sugar beet growing, garden, forestry and forest fire study, pheasant
raising, soil conservation, poultry, dairy, beef, sheep, pig and colt clubs,
food preparation, canning and farm accounting in summer.

Means by which 4-H work has progressed are many, Considered an
integral part of the college extension program it has been aided and
supported by the State Board of Agriculture, the public school system,
farm organizations such as the Grange, Gleaners, farmers’ clubs and
the Farm Bureau, various businessmen’s organizations and numerous
legislative appropriations.

The 4-H club camp buildings at Grayling were made possible through
a $25,000 legislative grant in 1928, By 1933 a special fund known as
the “4-H Club Allocation” was created to help stimulate development
of the program by assigning to each county on the basis of the program
within the county a sum of money to be used in making suitable awards
to 4-H clubs, members and leaders. Administered cooperatively by
the office of the state commissioner of agriculture and the college 4-H
club department the grant has risen from $25,000 in 1933 to $40,000
in 1938,

This 4-H club exhibit at the 1918 Farmers' Week illustrated the part Michigan
4-H clubs plaved during World War 1.
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Champion dairy elulr demonstration feam at the Michigan State Fair with
their demonstration ¢quipment,

Additional 4-H club backing has come from county boards of super-
visors, the various state livestock breed associations and especially
irom the county and state fairs. Iistablished as a Michigan State Fair
feature in 1917 the department has proved one of the real incentives
and rewards for sound 4-H programs throughout the state.

Then there are the various other agricultural shows around the
state including the 4-H livestock show in Detroit, the National com-
mittee on boys’ and girls’ club work, the national dairy show, the
Michigan State College club week established in 1918 and in continual
yearly operation since, the numerons camps, scholarship awards, edu-
cational tours and the helpful work of the state departments and
institutions.

All these have gone into the development of 4-H clubs which today
are a definite source of education, entertainment and a broader out-
look on life for Michigan’s rural youth.

WORK OF LOCAL LEADERS

However the opinions of those familiar with 4-H club organizations
indicate that no resume of the work would be complete until adequate
praise had gone to the local leaders. Dependent for success or failure
on these unpaid and often unmentioned people behind the scenes of
4-H club life, most club members automatically nominate their local
leaders for chief praise when compliments are passed around.

Today’s 4-H participants take little time to look backward at the
achievements in the first quarter-century under the Smith-Lever act,
But when they do a satisfied smile usually breaks out. For they see a
program that has grown from a six-county corn-growing club program
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in 1908 to a banner year that in 1938 showed 35,572 clubs complete,
20,215 out of 23,841 boys’ projects and 24,726 out of 27,993 girls’ proj-
ects for an average 864 percent completion. They know that since the
passing of the act in 1914 they have helped organize 53,583 clubs with
a Michigan membership totaling 589,914 rural young men and women,
734 percent of whom completed their project requirements.

But though they may pause for a brief backward look on their silver
anniversary, state 4-F members are much too busy to dream long of
the past. Their dreams are for the future.

CHILD CARE AND TRAINING

Nine years after the calling of the first White House conference
for the study of dependent children by President Theodore Roosevelt,
active participation in similar projects had become accepted practice in
the college home economics extension service.

A report released in 1919 concerning work done in child welfare
stated that in some counties nearly all such work was being done by
home demonstration agents while in others cooperation had*been ex-
tended by the women's committee of the council for national defense.
Assisted by the health specialist, demonstration agents had been active
in establishing weighing centers for babies and in sponsoring talks and
demonstrations by physicians and nurses on proper care and feeding of
children and exhibits of diets, clothing and proper toys.

Loss of the health specialist in 1920 slowed down the amount of
child welfare work carried on but by 1922 the nutrition specialist was
organizing children’s clinics and writing leaflets on child diets.

Child care and training extension work continued during the early
twenties through the use of nutrition studies in rural schools, special
clinics and installation of a college class in the home economics divi-
sion dealing with home care of children. Students also were being
sent from the college to the Merrill Palmer school in Detroit for study
in child care.

FULL-TIME SPECIALIST NAMED IN 1929

Appointmient of a woman to develop and teach a new course in child
study at the college influenced the extension program but it was not
until 1929 that the first child care and training specialist in Michigan
was appointed to devote full time to extension duties in this project.

[farly efforts to locate problems in the field disclosed the fact that
the state health board was carrying an educational program for
mothers which included pre-natal, infant and child care. For that
reason it was decided to concentrate on the training program.

Because requests from mothers were for aid in solving problems
of habit formation, obedience and self-reliance, behavior, sharing of
home duties and pleasure and recreation, a series of extension programs
titled “Understanding Your Child” was started. The specialist met with
groups in training centers and lectures and problem discussions were
the first methods of teaching used.

Though long-practiced in other projects, leader-training was not
begun in child care and training extension work until 1931. In the
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initial work carried on by that method the specialist met with the en-
tire group for the first and last meeting of the period to explain the
significance and philosophy of the program. The other three meetings
were conducted by local leaders.

A cooperative project utilizing material prepared by the specialist
and taught by the demonstration agents was offered during the 1932-33
season. By 1934 the trend of such extension service had veered away
from teaching of skills in child handling and training to developing of
an understanding and appreciation of the factors which make up human
relationships and personal adjustments.

istablishment of emergency nursing schools was accomplished
through the cooperation of the extension service and the F.ER.A. in
the fall of 1934 and the spring of 1935. The work consisted of super-
vision of nursery schools and the organization and supervision of par-
ent education groups.

Previous projects were continued during the 1934-35 season and a
new project, “Mental Hygiene for the Family” was added to the list.
In addition a Parent-Youth program was begun in two counties during
the summer months with the object of bringing about discussions be-
tween parents and young people on the future outlook for youth.

During the year 1936, work was begun in Jackson county on an
educational film, “You and Your Family” and the following year a pre-
school cooperative project for use in home agent counties was organized.

A change in specialists occurred in 1937 and a new program dealing
with the problems of older children was prepared at the request of sev-
eral women,

During the 1937-38 season 26 counties were given some phase of the
extension work in child welfare. Groups were continued in both leader
training and individual units and a camp for mothers, a new venture,
sponsored by the Kellogg Foundation, was held at Clear lake, Assist-
ance was rendered the parents at Webberville and Williamston in estab-
lishing summer recreational programs supervised by WPA workers.

All through the thirties use of radio programs had been an effective
part of the child welfare service and in 1935-36 a series for organized
listening groups was established.

Efforts of the child welfare specialist aided by cooperation from
various other college and state departments resulted in reaching a total
attendance membership of 69,049 during the decade, 1929 to 1939. The
number of children reached in the ten-year period total 25,822.

Centered on the better understanding of individual needs, this phasc
of the extension service program eventually will be broadened to in-
clude handling of community problems rather than simple family and
child difficulties.

CLOTHING PROJECT

Home economics, one of the many extension activities whose be-
ginnings date from the passage of the Smith-Lever act in 1914, largely
limited early clothing project work to textiles.

Pioneer home economics extension work was carried on through
one-week extension schools conducted by the specialist appointed Sept.
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1, 1914. Such schools were scheduled throughout the winter months in
counties where a sufficient number of women had applied for them.
Lecture and demonstration methods were utilized while illustrative
material such as sample textile fabrics and outline bulletins supple-
mented the work. Interest in the work was stimulated through contact
with the state women’s organizations. The first series of 12 schools
attracted 922 women.

Textile study continued to be a major feature through the war
years when extension schools and lectures were organized through
schools, women's clubs, farm bureaus and farm granges. Active agita-
tion by local women for county financial support in the appointments
of home demonstration agents resulted in the employment of 25 agents
in 1918,

A domestic arts specialist, who confined her efforts to instruction
in clothing, was appointed the same year. Talks and demonstrations
on dyeing, use of patterns, sewing machine attachments, cutting and
fitting and remodeling were added to the study of textile fabrics.

During the following year children's clothing, clothing budgets and
the choice of becoming colors were added to the list of sub-projects.
Questionnaires were used to obtain information on clothes purchasing
habits.

NEW METHODS

With the era of dress forms and millinery, which began about 1920,
came new methods of extension service. Leader training was intro-
duced for teaching methods of form-making while clinics were scheduled
for those interested in millinery. The change has persisted and from
that time until the present, extension home economic specialists have
spent less time with individuals and more time in the training of local
leaders and home demonstration agents. County executive committees
of women to aid the county demonstration agent in planning and or-
ganizing the work came into being about 1920,

Some construction work was started in 1922-23 with finishes, pat-
terns, cutting and fitting included in the program. The specialist met
with each of two local county groups once each month for five months
and where interest warranted it local leader work was introduced.
First mention of an achievement day where results of the year's work
could be displayed was made in connection with this construction
project.

By 1924-25, when two clothing specialists were employved, local
leader training had been accepted as the best feasible method of carry-
ing on the work in an effective, comprehensive manner.

Three sub-projects, “An Introduction to Clothing Construction,”
“Garment Fitting,” and “The Study of Color and Design in Relation to
Clothing,” were introduced in 1925. Six days of leader training and a
seventh “Achievement Day” were required for the sub-projects. The
short-time project of dress forms was continued and much stress was
exerted on their correct use.

Surveys were used at this time as a basis for planning the work.
Since the local leader plan necessitated much accurate and detailed
preparation of subject matter material, numerous bulletins were writ-
ten and illustrative material for the use of local leaders was also
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planned. In 1925-26 a radio clothing short course presented by mem-
hers of the extension and resident departments, initiated the first series
of radio talks on the program.

Continuous work in the three sub-projects went on until 1933 but
with the introduction of special phases of work designed to enable
women to adjust to depression years, they became of less importance.

Depression years also served to reduce the staff of specialists from
three to one and project changes became apparent in 1930-31. A group
of four lessons on making over tailored wool garments was begun and
a cooperative project on problems of the household buyer was tried
out in one county. Lecture-demonstrations on children’s clothing and
on shoes and hose were offered by the clothing specialist.

By the following year home demonstration agents were holding
clinics in remodeling and care and repair of clothing. Cooperative proj-
ects on the household buying and on child care were continued and, to
aid rural women in stretching clothing dollars, a project featuring
remodeling and making of dress accessories was introduced. During
this period a number of home economics extension groups in eight
counties assisted in sewing for the Red Cross,

Cooperating with the agricultural engineering department the home
cconomics extension service added a sewing machine clinic to their
program in 1933-34. This is still in operation. Dress-fitting, clothing
selection, a clothing thrift series and the cooperative projects mentioned
made up the remainder of the program for the vear.

Tailoring of new wool garments was added to the project list in
1934-35 when special groups in two counties were enrolled for instruc-
tion given directly by the specialist.

PROJECT REVISED IN 1936

A complete revision of the local leader clothing project was under-
taken in 1936. New bulletins were prepared for “Style in Dress” and a
series of five discussions was used in every county enrolled in the
clothing project that year. Planned for general interest the discussions
centered on fashion trends, reviving of last year's clothes, line and color,
posture and foundation garments, accessories and modern dress finishes.

A five-lesson discussion project planned around the making of a
dress from a commercial pattern was included in the work in 1936-37
and the year following a similar discussion project was concentrated
on family clothing problems.

Projects in operation during the 1939-40 season included “Dress
Styles,” “Spending the Clothing Dollar” and “Making a Dress from
Commercial Patterns.” Such short-time projects as tailoring classes,
classes in children’s clothing (specially designed to aid young mothers)
style talks and clothing clinics, demonstrations of good grooming prac-
tices and sewing machine clinics were also on the 1939-40 program.

From figures in specialists’ annual reports it is learned that extension
clothing work has been carried on in 76 of Michigan’s 83 counties and
that a total of 173,606 women have been reached through leader-train-
ing in clothing since 1924,

Future plans of the home economics extension workers in clothing
projects embody the continuation of present phases of the work with
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additions and changes of emphasis to be made at the dictates of chang-
ing economic and social conditions. Available economic information
will be incorporated in all future projects.

COUNTY AGRICULTURAL AGENTS

All of Michigan's 83 counties receive services of county agricul-
tural agents—a goal attained in 1937—yet in every county the appoint-
ments followed demand from the rural population and approval by
county boards of supervisors.

Officially the county agricultural agent became part of a recognized
extension service in Michigan in 1914. The Smith-Lever law then
authorized federal contribution of $1,200 towards an agent's salary
whenever a county agreed to supply funds to pay the balance of the
salary and necessary expenses for maintenance of an office.

Yet there were services rendered in Alpena, Iron, Kent and Kala-
mazoo counties in 1912 and in 1913 seven other counties added the
service. These seven included Allegan, St. Clair, Branch, Genesee, Sagi-
naw, Houghton and Newaygo. It took war conditions in 1918 to bring
the greatest increase of 26 counties in any one year, The final addi-
tion, of Mackinac county, occurred in 1937,

Slightly more than a quarter-century ago, apparently in 1912, 1. W.
Byers, then president of the Upper Peninsula Grange association, pub-
lished a leaflet titled “Why a County Agriculturist?”

“Farmers have doctors, dentists, veterinarians, lawyer and preachers
for their needs. Yet a farmer has no one to consult if his potatoes get
blight, apple trees die, if his soil gets sick.”

PROBLEMS NEEDING ATTENTION

So Mr. Byers proposed counties should be served by persons versed
in these problems and he listed 10 problems that needed attention such
as “the county agriculturist” could give. Ile suggested attention to:

“1.° Drift of population to the cities.

“2. IExhaustion of the soil. This is a live problem before the State
of Michigan and is taking place right under the nose of the
Agricultural College and the State Grange.

“3. Abandoned farms. By this I mean not only leaving the farms
without anybody living on them, but when land owners will
rent their farms and move to town or sell the farm and invest
the money elsewhere. This is just as much farm abandonment
as vacating the farms in the New England States or New York
or Pennsylvania.

“4. Farm Markets.

“5. Farm Credits.

“6. Comforts for farm life.

“7. Social life among the farmers.

“8. Trained leaders of men.

“9, Cooperation.

“10. Organization of the farmers. Just as are the plumbers, stone
masons, carpenters, iron workers, etc., organized, and for just
as definite purposes as they are organized.”
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Early financing was a problem. In some counties the Chambers
of Commerce or similar commercial clubs assisted and influenced the
boards of supervisors. Influential individuals often promoted the move-
ment. L. S. Foote of Saginaw and Joseph Gerber of Fremont were
typical men who corresponded with Dr. Eben Mumford in 1912 and
1913 when Dr. Mumford was working as the first state leader of agents
in Michigan.

Financing in various periods was accomplished by the following
methods :

10141020, State Funds—$1,200 per year to each county for agent’s
salary. County funds—provided by appropriations by Boards of Super-
visors, contributions from the Farm Bureaus obtained by $1 member-
ship; from voluntary subscriptions.

1920-1926. State Funds—$1,200 per year to each county. County
funds, provided as before but in the early part of this period the aid
from County Farm Bureaus increased greatly because of the intensive
membership drive at $10 per member. However, toward 1926 these
funds decreased as people failed to renew their memberships.

1926-1935. State Funds consisted of $1800 in most counties 